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3. Explanation of policy change. The change extends the special emphasis enforcement 
program providing that passengers who assault, threaten, intimidate, or interfere with a 
crewmember in the performance of a crewmember’s duties in violation of 14 C.F.R. §§ 91.11, 
121.580, 125.328, or 135.120, or who engage in conduct proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318, 
will be addressed with legal enforcement action in the form of a civil penalty, and that 
compliance and administrative actions will not be used to address such violations. 
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5. Administrative Information. This Order change is distributed to divisions and branches in 
Washington J2ers, regions, and centers, and to all field offices and facilities. 
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Acting Administrator 



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION 

National Policy 

SUBJ: FAA Compliance and Enforcement Program 

ORDER 
2150.3C 

Effective Date: 
09/18/18 

Order 2 l 50.3C which supersedes Order 2150.3B sets forth policies and procedures relevant to 
the Federal Aviation Administration ' s compliance and enforcement program. The order applies 
to the compliance and enforcement programs and activities of all FAA offices that have statutory 
and regulatory compliance and enforcement responsibilities. It includes policies and procedures 
the FAA has developed since the last comprehensive revision of the order in 2007. Expired and 
out-of-date policies and procedures have been removed. 

Order 2150.3C incorporates Order 8000.373 (Jun. 26, 2015), which sets forth overarching 
guidance for implementing FAA Compliance Oversight. Orders 2150.3C and 8000.373, and the 
policies and procedures issued by program offices, guide agency personnel in the exercise of 
prosecutorial discretion including the use of compliance, administrative, and legal enforcement 
action, to best ensure that regulated persons conform their conduct to statutory and regulatory 
requirements. 

In addition , Order 2150.3C provides a written statement of the Administrator' s policy guidance 
for imposing sanctions for violations of statutory and regulatory requirements, and revises 
sanction guidance to implement the objectives of FAA Compliance Oversight and conform to 
Congressional dir~ctives on sanctions for hazardous materials, laser and some unmanned aircraft 
system violations. The order provides guidance that addresses statutory changes resulting from 
the Pilot's Bill of Rights, Public Law 112-153. The order has been reorganized to be more useful 
for agency personnel. 

A workgroup of agency personnel with extensive FAA compliance and enforcement experience 
assisted in the drafting of this comprehensive revision. Order 2 I 50.3C is available electronically 
to agency personnel and the public. 

Daniel K. Elwell 
Acting Administrator 

Distribution: Electronically Initiated By: AGC-300 
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(4) Involves remedial legal enforcement action against a major entity (other than a 
housekeeping revocation for an entity that has effectively stopped doing business); 

(5) Involves extensive violations by, or may result in severe penalties against, major 
regulated entities; 

(6) Will draw broad public attention or Congressional interest; 

(7) Will have national impact because of the allegations or parties involved; 

(8) Involves violations warranting initiation of a formal investigation under 14 C.F.R. 
part 13; 

(9) Involves the need for specialized legal enforcement action, such as an injunction or 
the seizure of aircraft; 

(10) Raises significant questions about consistency with national policy or consistent 
treatment among FAA offices; 

(11) Involves allegations of FAA complicity or lack or professionalism; or 

(12) Involves potential criminal violations (in which case the affected program office 
coordinates as soon as possible with ASH and AGC-300 in accordance with chapter 4, 
paragraph 15.g.). 

b. Notifications. FAA investigative personnel, through their managers, promptly alert the 
appropriate reviewing office whenever a complex or controversial case is under investigation. 
The reviewing office, in turn, consults with AGC-300 to discuss the investigation, including 
whether an order of investigation is appropriate and what types of records or other evidence 
should be sought. 

c. Role of FAA Enforcement Counsel. If requested, enforcement counsel provides advice 
to reviewing offices about evidentiary matters and viable violations that arise during an 
investigation of a complex or controversial case. Enforcement counsel notifies the Department of 
Justice (DOJ) about cases likely to lead to litigation in U.S. courts, including agency orders 
directly appealable to courts of appeal and civil penalty actions above statutory maximums. 

9. Coordination with Other Agencies. 

a. General. Some matters within the investigatory jurisdiction of the FAA may involve 
violations of statutes or regulations that are within the investigatory jurisdiction of another 
government agency. In such a case, FAA investigative personnel take the actions described in 
paragraph 9.a.(1)-(3), below. 

(1) FAA investigative personnel generally report the matter to the appropriate FAA 
program office. The program office, in consultation with enforcement counsel, reports the matter 

2-10 
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to the government agency also having jurisdiction over the matter and requests that agency to 
provide any information that may be relevant to the FAA investigation. If the situation requires 
immediate action, FAA investigative personnel may directly contact the other government 
agency contemporaneously with enforcement counsel. 

(2) FAA employees ensure that investigative matters within the purview of the OIG are 
promptly referred for disposition in accordance with the procedures in DOT Order 8000.8, as 
amended. 

(3) FAA investigative personnel handle possible criminal violations by regulated persons 
in accordance with the guidance in chapter 4, paragraph 15.g. 

b. DOT Office of Inspector General. 

(1) The Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended, 5 U.S.C. app. 3, established the 
DOT OIG as an independent office authorized to: 

(i) Conduct investigations of allegations that a person has engaged in criminal 
activity in violation of federal criminal statutes relating to the programs and operations of the 
DOT or its modal administrations; 

(ii) Conduct and supervise audits and investigations relating to programs and 
operations of the DOT; 

(iii)Provide leadership and coordination for DOT programs and operations, 
recommend policies designed to promote economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of audits and 
internal investigations, and detect and prevent fraud and abuse in DOT programs and operations; 
and 

(iv) Keep the DOT Secretary and Congress fully and timely informed about problems 
and deficiencies relating to the administration of DOT programs and operations, including the 
necessity for, and progress of, corrective action for such programs and operations. 

(2) The DOT OIG does not have any authority for conducting FAA safety investigations 
or taking FAA enforcement actions. Rather, these activities are within the purview of the FAA. 

c. Department of Labor Whistleblower Protection Program. 

(1) The Whistleblower Protection Program, 49 U.S.C. § 42121, protects employees of air 
carriers and their contractors and subcontractors from discrimination for providing the Federal 
government information relating to any violation, or alleged violation, of any order, regulation, 
or standard of the FAA or any other federal law related to air carrier safety. 

(2) The Department of Labor (DOL) is responsible for evaluating and ruling on employee 
whistleblower complaints. In carrying out its responsibilities, the DOL may: (i) seek guidance 
from the FAA on matters relating to air carrier safety, as well as statutes, regulations, orders, or 

2-11 
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standards pertinent to the FAA; and (ii) request the FAA to testify or provide evidence for use at 
a DOL hearing involving the Whistleblower Protection Program. FAA employees coordinate any 
response to such a request with their program office management and enforcement counsel. 

d. Investigation of Stolen Aircraft. The FBI or an appropriate local law enforcement 
agency is responsible for investigating stolen aircraft. While 18 U.S.C § 2312 criminalizes the 
transportation of a stolen aircraft, there is no federal crime specifically addressing the theft of an 
aircraft. FAA personnel, however, are uniquely qualified to assist in their location and recovery. 

e. Notification to Department of Defense and Office of Secretary of Transportation 
When Air Carrier Operating Certificate is Suspended or Revoked. The Department of 
Defense (DOD) sometimes uses U.S. air carriers, through long-term contracts or short-term 
charters, to transport passengers and freight domestically and internationally. When the FAA is 
preparing to suspend or revoke a U.S air carrier certificate, the Assistant Chief Counsel for 
Enforcement contacts the FAA’s Office of Policy, International Affairs, and Environment to 
determine whether the DOD uses the air carrier. If so, the Assistant Chief Counsel for 
Enforcement informs the DOD of the prospective suspension or revocation. This notification 
allows the DOD to arrange for substitute air transportation or other modes of transportation with 
minimal interruption and inconvenience. The Assistant Chief Counsel for Enforcement also 
advises the DOT Assistant General Counsel for Aviation Enforcement and Proceedings of the 
suspension or revocation. This process does not apply to “housekeeping” actions, i.e., certificate 
actions against entities that have effectively ceased doing business. 

10. Liability of FAA Employees. FAA enforcement personnel may be subject to lawsuits for 
common law torts (e.g., negligence, trespass, wrongful death) or constitutional torts (e.g., failure 
to give due process or unreasonable search or seizure) committed during official duties. A “tort” 
is a wrongful act forming the basis for civil legal liability. 

a. Common Law Torts. Under the Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA), 28 U.S.C. § 2671, et 
seq., government employees have immunity from personal liability for common law torts they 
commit within the scope of their employment. The remedy for common law torts committed by 
government employees within the scope of their employment is against the United States. 

b. Constitutional Torts. The FTCA does not apply to constitutional torts. Nonetheless, FAA 
personnel are likely to have protections against claims involving constitutional torts they may 
commit during the scope of their employment. First, DOJ typically represents employees alleged 
to have committed a constitutional tort within the scope of their employment. Second, federal 
employees may be entitled to absolute or qualified immunity from liability for constitutional torts 
committed during the scope of their employment. Courts generally have limited the doctrine of 
absolute immunity to judicial functions and prosecutorial advocacy functions. Investigative 
activities, even if performed by a judge or prosecutor, are not eligible for absolute immunity. 
Qualified immunity protects federal employees working within the scope of their employment 
from damages unless the official violated a constitutional right that was clearly established by law 
at the time of the challenged conduct. Third, if an adverse judgment is entered against the United 
States, the same conduct may not give rise to a judgment against the government official under 28 
U.S.C. § 2676. 

2-12 
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c. Indemnification of Agency Employees. The Administrator has the authority to 
indemnify agency employees against any claim or judgment arising from acts committed within 
the scope of their employment. The indemnification authority applies to both constitutional and 
common law torts. The FAA employee indemnification policy is found in FAA Order 2300.2A 
(https://www.faa.gov/regulations_policies/orders_notices/index.cfm/go/document.information/do 
cumentID/7420). 

d. Indemnity or DOJ Representation Qualification. The United States Attorney General 
may certify that an FAA employee qualifies for immunity consideration or representation by the 
DOJ only after the Administrator recommends that the employee qualifies for such certification. 

e. Notification to Counsel. FAA employees sued in connection with their compliance and 
enforcement duties immediately notify AGC-300. Enforcement counsel will coordinate with 
FAA litigation counsel (and the DOJ if necessary) to assess the impact of the lawsuit on the legal 
enforcement action. 

2-13 
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COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT BULLETIN NO. 2021-3 

SUBJECT: Extension of compliance and enforcement program involving sanctions for 
passengers who assault, threaten, intimidate, or interfere with a crewmember in the performance 
of a crewmember’s duties in violation 14 C.F.R. §§ 91.11, 121.580, 125.328, or 135.120, or who 
engage in conduct proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318. 

DISCUSSION: On January 13, 2021, the FAA issued Compliance and Enforcement (C&E) 
Bulletin 2021-1, which announced a special emphasis enforcement program to address the 
proliferation of conduct by passengers onboard U.S.-registered aircraft in violation of 14 C.F.R. 
§§ 91.11, 121.580, 125.328, or 135.120, or proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318.1 The FAA 
observed that such conduct included that stemming from the failure to wear masks in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic-related health measures in place onboard aircraft or conduct following 
the January 6, 2021 violence at the U.S. Capitol. 

On January 29, 2021, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) issued an order that 
included a requirement that individuals wear a mask when traveling on conveyances, including 
aircraft, to prevent the spread of the virus that causes COVID-19. The CDC made the order 
enforceable by the Transportation Security Administration (TSA). On January 31, 2021, the TSA 
issued Security Directive (SD) 1544-21-02 and Emergency Amendment (EA) 1546-21-01. 
SD 1544-21-02 includes a requirement for individuals to wear masks while onboard a 
commercial aircraft operated by a U.S. aircraft operator. EA 1546-21-01 imposes the same 
requirement for all individuals onboard a commercial aircraft operated by a foreign air carrier. 

Since the issuance of C&E Bulletin 2021-1, the CDC order, and TSA SD-1544-21-02 and 
EA-1546-21-01, the FAA has continued to receive a large number of reports of passenger 
misconduct in violation of FAA regulations or proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318. Accordingly, 
this bulletin extends the special emphasis enforcement program announced in C&E 
Bulletin 2021-1. This extension will remain in effect at least until TSA SD 1544-21-02 and 
EA 1546-21-01, or any extension of the passenger mask requirement in TSA SD 1544-21-02 and 
EA 1546-21-01, expire. 

This special emphasis enforcement program provides that civil penalty action will be initiated 
against passengers who assault, threaten, intimidate, or interfere with a crewmember in the 
performance of a crewmember’s duties in violation of FAA regulations or who engage in 
conduct proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318 regardless of culpability. The civil penalties will be 
assessed in accordance with chapter 9 of this order. This special emphasis enforcement program 
does not restrict the use of other types of legal enforcement actions available to the FAA, such as 

1 While a passenger’s failure to wear a mask onboard an aircraft is not itself a violation of FAA regulations or 
proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318, conduct related to such a failure that results in a violation of FAA regulations 
or is proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318 will be subject to civil penalty in accordance with this bulletin. 
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orders of compliance or cease and desist orders, nor does it limit the possibility of criminal 
sanctions, such as for violations of 49 U.S.C. § 46504. 

ACTION: Effective immediately, and at least as long as TSA SD 1544-21-02 and 
EA-1546-21-01 remain in effect or any extension of the passenger mask requirement in TSA 
SD 1544-21-02 and EA 1546-21-01 remains in effect, the following compliance and 
enforcement procedures are in effect for cases involving conduct in violation of 14 C.F.R. 
§§ 91.11, 121.580, 125.328, and 135.120, or conduct proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318:2 

1. When a passenger commits any such regulatory violation,3 or when a passenger’s 
conduct is proscribed under 49 U.S.C. § 46318, FAA investigative personnel will send 
the case to the Office of the Chief Counsel’s Enforcement Division (AGC-300) for legal 
enforcement action. Compliance actions and administrative actions will not be used to 
address such conduct. 

2. The FAA will address any such conduct through legal enforcement action. The FAA will 
assess a civil penalty for any such conduct consistent with the guidance provided in 
chapter 9 of this order. 

2 This special emphasis enforcement program applies to cases involving violation conduct that occurred before the 
effectiveness of TSA SD 1544-21-02 and EA 1546-21-01, and at least while SD 1544-21-02 and EA 1546-21-01, or 
any extension of the passenger mask requirement in TSA SD 1544-21-02 and EA 1546-21-01, remain in effect. 

3 The cited regulations also apply to interference with crewmembers committed by persons not onboard the aircraft 
(for example, by directing a laser toward the aircraft). Such violations are not covered by this special emphasis 
enforcement program. 
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